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EVIDENCE EXAMINED 
 
I. Testimony Heard
 
 None 
 
II. Exhibits Examined
 

A. Presented by the State 
 

State’s Exhibits 1A through 1I:  Procedural exhibits. 
 
State’s Exhibit 2:  The Information in United States of America v. Gregory L. Ebner, 
Case No. 1:06CR0064, United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio. 
 
State’s Exhibit 3:  Plea Agreement in U.S. v. Ebner, Case No. 1:06CR0064. 
 
State’s Exhibit 4:  Judgment in U.S. v. Ebner, Case No. 1:06CR0064. 
 
State’s Exhibit 5:  Documents maintained by the Board and licensure information 
maintained by the Ohio E-License Center related to Dr. Ebner. 
 

B. Presented by the Respondent 
 

None 
 
 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 
All exhibits and the transcript, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly reviewed and 
considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and Recommendation. 
 
Background 
 
1. Gregory Lee Ebner, D.O., received his undergraduate degree from the University of Cincinnati 

in 1975 and his medical degree from the Des Moines University Medical Center in 1979.  He 
completed one year of internship at the U.S. Public Health Service Hospital in Staten Island, 
New York in 1980.  (State Exhibit [St. Ex.] 5 at 8) 

 
2. Beginning in 1980, Dr. Ebner worked for one year at the Wynton Hills Medical Center in 

Cincinnati, Ohio.  He worked for two years in different emergency departments in Ohio, and 
then worked 12 years in a private practice in Mount Carmel, Ohio.  That private practice was 
purchased by Deaconess Hospital in 1995, and he continued to work there for the next five 
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years.  Beginning in 2000, he provided locum tenens work for a period of time, and then he 
worked for an employer at four clinics in southern Ohio.  (St. Ex. 5 at 9-10) 

 
3. In 2002, Dr. Ebner moved to Arizona, began practicing in that state, and applied for licensure 

there.  In April 2003, he was discharged from his position at the Yavapai Apache Health Center 
“because of patient complaints and poor documentation.”  On March 27, 2004, the Arizona 
Board of Osteopathic Examiners in Medicine and Surgery denied his application for licensure 
in that state, based on a determination that Dr. Ebner’s conduct was in violation Arizona 
Revised Statutes § 32-1854(9), “Procuring or attempting to procure a license to practice 
osteopathic medicine by fraud or misrepresentation.”  Dr. Ebner returned to Ohio and began 
practicing medicine in Ohio again.  (St. Ex. 5 at 9-10) 

 
Previous Board Action and the Current Status of Dr. Ebner’s Ohio Certificate 
 
4. Effective December 22, 2004, the Board indefinitely suspended Dr. Ebner’s Ohio certificate 

for a period of at least 180 days, based upon the action taken by the Arizona Board of Osteopathic 
Examiners in Medicine and Surgery.  Additionally, Dr. Ebner was required to fulfill several 
conditions before his Ohio certificate would be reinstated, after which his certificate would be 
subject to a variety of probationary terms for a period of two years.  (St. Ex. 5 at 1-7, 14-27) 

 
5. Dr. Ebner’s Ohio certificate expired on January 1, 2007, and became inactive.  (St. Ex. 5 at 

28) 
 
2006-2007 Criminal Information, Plea, Conviction, and Sentence 
 
6. On May 4, 2006, an Information was filed in United States of America v. Gregory L. Ebner, 

Case No. 1:06CR0064, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, 
charging Dr. Ebner with one felony count of Money Laundering and one felony count of 
Structuring Money Transactions.  The charges related to Dr. Ebner’s activities while working 
at four clinics in southern Ohio.  (St. Ex. 2) 

 
7. That same day, Dr. Ebner agreed to plead guilty to both counts of the information in U.S. v. Ebner.  

Among other things, Dr. Ebner acknowledged the truth of the following facts: 
 

• Beginning in January 2001, Dr. Ebner worked in several “pain clinics” in the 
Southern District of Ohio, located in:  (a) Lucasville, Ohio, in Lawrence 
County; (b) Chillicothe, Ohio, in Ross County; (c) Hanging Rock, Ohio, in 
Lawrence County; and (d) Jackson, Ohio, in Jackson County. 

 
• These clinics were owned and operated by an individual named William Jewell.  

These clinics would open for a short period of time, only to close and re-open at 
another location in a nearby town or country under another name after being 
exposed to local law enforcement scrutiny.  Local law enforcement began 
investigating these clinics after becoming overwhelmed with public complaints 
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of drug addicts frequenting the community while purchasing prescriptions for 
drugs from the pain clinics.  Law enforcement surveillance revealed long lines 
of individuals standing outside the “pain clinic.”  Surveillance also revealed a 
large number of vehicles with license plates from Kentucky and West Virginia. 

 
• Dr. Ebner prescribed Schedule III and IV controlled substances, including Lorcet 

(hydrocodone) and Xanax (alprasolam) at these “pain clinics.”  Dr. Ebner attended 
to patients at these clinics two to three days a week.  The other days of the week 
would be attended by other physicians.  Patients paid cash for Dr. Ebner’s 
services in amounts that varied from $175.00 to $200.00.  The “pain clinics” 
would not accept insurance, personal checks, credit cards, or any other form of 
payment.  New patients were required to bring an X-Ray or magnetic resonance 
imaging to create an aura of legitimacy to the “pain clinics.” 

 
• Dr. Ebner would see between 60 and 70 patients a day.  These patients would 

receive a cursory medical examination.  Dr. Ebner never checked the height, 
weight, and blood pressure of his patients.  Dr. Ebner never maintained any 
diagnostic equipment at the clinics.  Despite the different patient ailments and 
complaints, all patients received prescriptions that were called into the pharmacy 
from the “pain clinic.”  In most cases, Dr. Ebner would prescribe medication for 
pain and for sleep.  Patients would also receive subsequent prescriptions without 
being re-examined by Dr. Ebner.  The patients seeking refills were charged the 
same amount as the patients who were seeing the doctor.  Dr. Ebner admitted 
that what he was doing at the “pain clinics” was below the accepted standards 
of medical practice. 

 
• The prescriptions would be filled at only a few pharmacies.  The South Shore 

Pharmacy in South Shore, Kentucky was frequently used by Dr. Ebner’s 
patients.  Many of Dr. Ebner’s patients signed an agreement to use only this 
pharmacy. 

 
• Dr. Ebner evenly split the patient payments with William Jewell.  The cash 

payments made by the patients would be placed in individual envelopes with the 
patient’s name on the outside.  For example, if Dr. Ebner saw 70 patients in a 
day and each patient paid $200.00, he would receive $7,000.00 in cash for his 
work that day and William Jewell would receive the other $7,000.00. 

 
• Dr. Ebner took the illegal “pain clinic” proceeds and laundered and structured 

these funds in order to conceal and hide his involvement in this illegal activity.  
He did this by leading others to believe these were legitimate medical practice 
proceeds and breaking down these funds into smaller amounts of currency, 
typically under $10,000, for deposit into his personal bank accounts so as to 
avoid the Currency Transaction Reporting (CTR) requirements.  Dr. Ebner took 
these illegal proceeds and issued checks for investments.  These investments 
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included a down payment on real estate, shares of a medical partnership, and a 
pay off of his home mortgage. 

 
(St. Ex. 3)  In connection with his guilty plea, Dr. Ebner also agreed to turn over all evidence 
of the crime, all proceeds of the crime and all assets traceable to the proceeds of the crime.  
He agreed to submit a full and complete accounting of all of his financial assets and to make 
restitution. 

 
8. On January 19, 2007, Dr. Ebner pleaded guilty to and was convicted of both counts charged in 

U.S. v. Ebner.  He was sentenced to 24 months of incarceration on each count, which would run 
concurrently.  Also, upon release from imprisonment, Dr. Ebner was required to serve three years 
of supervised release on each count, which would run concurrently.  Additionally, Dr. Ebner: 

 
a. Was not permitted to unlawfully possess a controlled substance and refrain from 

the unlawful use of a controlled substance. 
 
b. Was required to pay a $10,000 fine and a $200 assessment. 
 
c. If working in a particular position during incarceration, was required to pay the 

above monetary penalties under a payment schedule and, if any amounts remain 
unpaid upon release from imprisonment, required to pay the remainder under a 
payment schedule. 

 
d. Was required to forfeit his residence or make an equivalent cash payment. 
 
(St. Ex. 4) 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 
1. Effective December 22, 2004, the Board indefinitely suspended Dr. Ebner’s Ohio certificate 

for a period of at least 180 days based upon action taken by the Arizona Board of Osteopathic 
Examiners in Medicine and Surgery denying Dr. Ebner’s application for licensure in that 
state.  Additionally, the Board required Dr. Ebner to fulfill several conditions before his Ohio 
certificate would be reinstated and imposed a variety of probationary terms for a period of 
two years. 

 
2. On May 4, 2006, a two-count Information against Gregory Ebner, D.O. was filed in the United 

States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio. 
 
3. On January 19, 2007, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Ohio, 

pursuant to a Plea Agreement between the United States of America and Dr. Ebner, he 
pleaded guilty to and was found guilty of Money Laundering, in violation of 18 United States 
Code [U.S.C.] § 1957 and Structuring Money Transactions in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3).  
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Among other things in the plea agreement, Dr. Ebner admitted to the truth of the following 
facts: 

 
• He worked at several “pain clinics” in southern Ohio for a period of time. 
 
• Despite the different patient ailments and complaints, he prescribed 

Schedule III and IV controlled substances to all patients at these clinics. 
 
• However, he provided only a cursory medical examination initially and did 

not re-examine the patients when providing subsequent prescriptions. 
 
• Dr. Ebner admitted that he practiced below the accepted standards of 

medical practice. 
 
• Moreover, he took the illegal “pain clinic” proceeds and laundered and 

structured those funds in order to conceal and hide his involvement in the 
“pain clinics.” 

 
4. As a result of his conviction, Dr. Ebner was required:  (a) to serve two years of incarceration 

on each count, which would run concurrently; (b) upon release from imprisonment, to serve 
three years of supervised release for each count, which would run concurrently; (c) to pay 
criminal monetary penalties of a special assessment of $200 and a fine of $10,000; and (d) to 
forfeit his residence or make an equivalent cash payment to the United States. 

 
5. Dr. Ebner’s Ohio certificate expired on January 1, 2007, and became inactive. 
 
 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
The guilty plea and/or the judicial finding of guilt of Dr. Ebner, as set forth in Findings of Fact 2 
through 4 constitutes a “plea of guilty to, a judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of 
eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction for, a felony,” as set forth in Section 4731.22(B)(9), 
Ohio Revised Code. 
 
The guilty plea and/or the judicial finding of guilt of Dr. Ebner, as set forth in Findings of Fact 2 
through 4 also constitutes “[s]elling, giving away, personally furnishing, prescribing, or 
administering drugs for other than legal and legitimate therapeutic purposes or a plea of guilty to, a 
judicial finding of guilt of, or a judicial finding of eligibility for intervention in lieu of conviction of, 
a violation of any federal or state law regulating the possession, distribution, or use of any drug” as set 
forth in Section 4731.22(B)(3), Ohio Revised Code. 
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II. Exhibits Examined 
 

A. Presented by the State 
 

1. State’s Exhibits 1A through 1L: Procedural exhibits. [Note: A paragraph in an 
attachment to State’s Exhibit 1A was redacted at the Respondent’s request and 
without objection from the State.  See Hearing Transcript at 37-40.] 

 
2. State’s Exhibit 2: Certified copies of documents pertaining to Dr. Ebner 

maintained by the Arizona Board of Osteopathic Examiners in Medicine and 
Surgery [Arizona Board]. [Note: Portions of this exhibit were redacted at the 
Respondent’s request and without objection from the State.  See Hearing 
Transcript at 37-40.] 

 
B. Presented by the Respondent  

 
Respondent’s Exhibits A through D: Copies of correspondence between Dr. Ebner’s 
counsel and the Arizona Board. 

 
 

PROCEDURAL MATTERS 
 

1. The hearing record in this matter was held open until September 29, 2004, to give the 
Respondent an opportunity to submit additional evidence.  The additional evidence was timely 
submitted and entered into the record as Respondent’s Exhibit D, without objection from the 
State. (See Hearing Transcript at 61). 

 
2. Portions of pages 33 through 36 of the hearing transcript were stricken by the Hearing 

Examiner at the request of the Respondent and without objection from the State. (See Hearing 
Transcript at 37-40). 

 
 

SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE 
 
All exhibits and transcripts of testimony, even if not specifically mentioned, were thoroughly 
reviewed and considered by the Hearing Examiner prior to preparing this Report and 
Recommendation. 
 
1. Gregory Lee Ebner, D.O., received his undergraduate degree from the University of 

Cincinnati in 1975.  Dr. Ebner then attended the Des Moines University Medical Center in 
Des Moines, Iowa.  He graduated in 1979.  In 1980, Dr. Ebner completed a rotating 
internship at U.S. Public Health Service Hospital in Staten Island, New York. (Hearing 
Transcript [Tr.] at 12-14). 
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 Dr. Ebner testified that, following his internship, he had accepted employment at the Wynton 
Hills Medical Center in Cincinnati, Ohio.  He remained there for one year.  Thereafter, he 
worked for two years in emergency medicine in several emergency departments in Ohio.  In 
1983, Dr. Ebner entered into a private practice in Mount Carmel, Ohio, a suburb of 
Cincinnati, and practiced family medicine for twelve years.  Dr. Ebner testified that, in 1995, 
Deaconess Hospital purchased the practice, and Dr. Ebner remained as an employee of 
Deaconess Hospital for an additional five years.  Dr. Ebner testified that he has been 
“working off and on with [Locum Tenens Medical Group in Cleveland, Ohio] for the past 
four years.”  He explained that Locum Tenens Medical Group supplies physicians to clinics 
around the State of Ohio. (Tr. at 12, 14-16).  

 
 Dr. Ebner testified that he is not licensed in any state other than Ohio. (Tr. at 16).  
 
2.  On October 25, 2002, Dr. Ebner submitted an application for privileges at the Phoenix Indian 

Medical Center in Phoenix, Arizona.  The Phoenix Indian Medical Center is associated with 
the United States Public Health Service, Department of Health and Human Services.  The 
Phoenix Indian Medical Center credentialed Dr. Ebner on December 20, 2002.  Dr. Ebner 
entered into a contract to provide services at the Phoenix Indian Medical Center and at a 
clinic run by the Phoenix Indian Medical Center, the Yavapai Apache Health Center. (State’s 
Exhibit [St. Ex.] 2 at 7).  

 
3.  On January 31, 2003, the United States Attorney’s Office filed a civil forfeiture lawsuit 

against Dr. Ebner in the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio.  The Arizona 
Board reviewed the lawsuit and determined that the suit was related to Dr. Ebner’s practice 
of medicine. (St. Ex. 2 at 2).  

 
4. In April 2003, Dr. Ebner was discharged from his position at the Yavapai Apache Health 

Center “because of patient complaints and poor documentation.” (St. Ex. 2 at 7).   
 
5.  On May 21, 2003, Dr. Ebner signed an application for a license to practice osteopathic 

medicine and surgery in Arizona. (Tr. at 18; St. Ex. 2 at 5a). 
 
 On March 27, 2004, the Arizona Board of Osteopathic Examiners in Medicine and Surgery 

[Arizona Board] voted to deny Dr. Ebner’s application for licensure.  The action of the 
Arizona Board was based on a determination that Dr. Ebner’s conduct was “in violation of 
A.R.S. § 32-1854(9), ‘Procuring or attempting to procure a license to practice osteopathic 
medicine by fraud or misrepresentation.’” (St. Ex. 2 at 2).  More specifically, the Arizona 
Board based its decision on the following reasons:  

 
1.  In response to Section V of the [Arizona Board] application, which asks 

for a list of all hospitals with which an applicant has been affiliated or had 
privileges since graduation from medical school, on or about June 9, 2003, 
[Dr. Ebner] responded that [he] had not been affiliated with any hospitals 
since 2000. 



Report and Recommendation 
In the Matter of Gregory Lee Ebner, D.O. 
Page 4 

 
 In so doing, [Dr. Ebner] failed to disclose that [he] had been employed by 

and affiliated with the Phoenix Indian Health Services and hospital from 
February 2003 until [he was] terminated for cause in June 2003. 

 
2. In response to Section VI of the application, which asks questions about 

an applicant’s prior history regarding professional conduct, on or about 
June 9, 2003, [Dr. Ebner] answered ‘Yes’ to the question ‘have you ever 
had any lawsuits filed against you in connection with your practice of 
medicine?’  [Dr. Ebner] disclosed two malpractice cases brought against 
[him]; one in 1988, the second in 1992. 

 
 In so doing, [Dr. Ebner] failed to disclose that on January 31, 2003, the 

U.S. Attorneys [sic] Office filed a civil forfeiture lawsuit (Case No. 
C-1-03-084) against [him] in the United States District Court, Southern 
District of Ohio, Western Division.  The allegations in that document 
show that the suit was related to [Dr. Ebner’s] practice.   

 
 [Dr. Ebner] also failed to disclose that on March 17, 2003, the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office filed an amendment to the civil forfeiture lawsuit (Case 
No. C-1-03-084) against [Dr. Ebner] in the United States District Court, 
Southern District of Ohio, Western Division.   

 
(St. Ex. 2 at 2-3).  

 
6. After reviewing the Arizona Board documents, Dr. Ebner acknowledged that he had been “an 

independent contractor” for the Yavapai Apache Health Center.  Dr. Ebner further testified 
that had been “released from employment” at Yavapai Apache Health Center because the 
clinic did not see enough patients to support him. (Tr. at 20-22).  

 
 Dr. Ebner testified that he had lived in Arizona for a year and a half, from early 2002 through 

June 2003.  Dr. Ebner explained that he had failed to mention the Yavapai Apache Health 
Center when he provided his employment history earlier in his testimony not because he had 
been trying to hide his termination, but because it had “just escaped [him].” (Tr. at 30-31). 

 
 Dr. Ebner also acknowledged that he had failed to include one Ohio employer when he had 

discussed his employment history earlier in the hearing.  Dr. Ebner testified that, during the 
period of 2000 to the present, he had worked for an employer who serves four clinics in 
southern Ohio.  Finally, Dr. Ebner testified that he is currently practicing at the Longaberger 
Employee Health Center, a placement he obtained through the Locum Tenens Medical 
Group. (Tr. at 37-48).  

 
7. Dr. Ebner explained that the Phoenix Indian Medical Center is a hospital that serves as a 

“hub” which serves the inpatient needs of three states’ Native American population.  He 
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added that Yavapai Apache Health Center is an outlying medical clinic that serves the local 
Native American population one hundred miles from Phoenix. (Tr. at 52-53).   

 
 He testified that he had not mentioned either the Phoenix Indian Medical Center or the 

Yavapai Apache Health Center in his application for licensure in Arizona because he had not 
been aware that he had held hospital privileges at the Phoenix Indian Medical Center.  
Moreover, Dr. Ebner testified that he had not been affiliated with Phoenix Indian Medical 
Center.  Dr. Ebner testified that he had been an independent contractor for the Yavapai 
Apache Health Center, and had received a 1099 form rather than a W-2 at the end of the year 
of his employment there.  Furthermore, he testified that he had never taken care of any 
patients at the Phoenix Indian Medical Center and had never been considered a member of 
the medical staff there. (Tr. at 20, 22, 32, 53, 56).   

 
 Dr. Ebner was shown a letter from an Associate Director of the Phoenix Indian Medical 

Center to the Arizona Board, which stated that,   
 

 Dr. Ebner was credentialed on December 20, 2002.  He was contracted for 
services at the Phoenix Indian Medical Center and our clinic at the Yavapai 
Apache Health Center. 

 
 (St. Ex. 2 at 7).  When asked what he believes that meant, Dr. Ebner stated, “I think what 

they were saying was that I approved all of the rigors of the application process of getting 
employment at the health center where I was to be an independent contractor.”  He added 
that he had not had “any affiliation per se with the Phoenix Indian Medical Center other than 
to do the application process.”  He later acknowledged that he had also completed a 
two-week orientation and attended a grand rounds presentation at the Phoenix Indian Medical 
Center. (Tr. at 23-25, 54).  

 
8. Dr. Ebner initially testified that, in completing his Arizona application, he had not disclosed 

the lawsuits filed against him because he had not believed that they were actually lawsuits.  
Dr. Ebner explained that the actions were based on a dispute between Dr. Ebner and the 
Internal Revenue Service over the amount of taxes he owes for money he made in the 
practice of medicine.  At first, Dr. Ebner acknowledged that the lawsuits involved the 
practice of medicine.  Nevertheless, a few minutes later, Dr. Ebner testified that he had not 
felt that the lawsuits were related to his practice of medicine. (Tr. at 26-29, 52).   

 
9. Dr. Ebner testified at hearing that he had failed to request a hearing before the Arizona 

Board.  Dr. Ebner testified that his lawyer had advised him not to pursue the matter unless 
the really needed an Arizona license.  Since Dr. Ebner had returned to Ohio at that time, 
Dr. Ebner chose not to request a hearing.  Nevertheless, he later requested that the Arizona 
Board reconsider their decision but the Arizona Board denied the request. (Tr. at 30; 
Respondent’s Exhibits [Resp. Exs.] A through D).  
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